

King Saud University

Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal

www.ksu.edu.sa



REVIEW

Biosynthesis of metallic nanoparticles using plant derivatives and their new avenues in pharmacological applications – An updated report



Palaniselvam Kuppusamy *, Mashitah M. Yusoff, Gaanty Pragas Maniam, Natanamurugaraj Govindan

Biomaterial and Biosensor Laboratory, Faculty of Industrial Sciences and Technology, Universiti Malaysia Pahang, Lebuhraya Tun Razak, 26300 Gambang, Kuantan, Pahang, Malaysia

Received 1 October 2014; accepted 29 November 2014 Available online 9 December 2014

KEYWORDS

Biological synthesis; Metallic nanoparticles; Plants; Secondary metabolites; Chronic diseases Abstract The field of nanotechnology mainly encompasses with biology, physics, chemistry and material sciences and it develops novel therapeutic nanosized materials for biomedical and pharmaceutical applications. The biological syntheses of nanoparticles are being carried out by different macro-microscopic organisms such as plant, bacteria, fungi, seaweeds and microalgae. The biosynthesized nanomaterials have been effectively controlling the various endemic diseases with less adverse effect. Plant contains abundant natural compounds such as alkaloids, flavonoids, saponins, steroids, tannins and other nutritional compounds. These natural products are derived from various parts of plant such as leaves, stems, roots shoots, flowers, barks, and seeds. Recently, many studies have proved that the plant extracts act as a potential precursor for the synthesis of nanomaterial in non-hazardous ways. Since the plant extract contains various secondary metabolites, it acts as reducing and stabilizing agents for the bioreduction reaction to synthesized novel metallic nanoparticles. The non-biological methods (chemical and physical) are used in the synthesis of nanoparticles, which has a serious hazardous and high toxicity for living organisms. In addition, the biological synthesis of metallic nanoparticles is inexpensive, single step and eco-friendly methods. The plants are used successfully in the synthesis of various greener nanoparticles such as cobalt, copper, silver, gold, palladium, platinum, zinc oxide and magnetite. Also, the plant mediated nanoparticles are potential remedy for various diseases such as malaria, cancer, HIV, hepatitis and other acute diseases. © 2014 The Authors. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/).

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +60 1117901062, +60 95492465 (O); fax: +60 95492766.

E-mail address: kpalaselvam@yahoo.co.in (P. Kuppusamy). Peer review under responsibility of King Saud University.



http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsps.2014.11.013

1319-0164 © 2014 The Authors. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/).

Contents

1. Introduction							
	1.1.	I. Classical approaches of metals					
	1.2.	.2. Different methods for metallic nanoparticle synthesis					
	1.3.	1.3. Bio-reduction mechanism.					
2.	Different parts of plants used to produce metallic NPs						
	2.1.	Stem as source for nanoparticle synthesis	475				
	2.2.	Fruits mediated synthesis of metallic nanoparticles	476				
	2.3.	3. Seeds as source					
	2.4.	Leaves mediated synthesis of NPs					
	2.5.	Flowers as source for NPs production	477				
3.	Phari	Pharmacological application of metallic nanoparticles.					
	3.1.	Anti-bactericidal activities of metallic nanoparticles	477				
	3.2.	Anti-fungicidal activities of metallic nanoparticles	477				
	3.3.	Antiplasmodial activity of metallic nanoparticles	477				
	3.4.	Anti-inflammatory action of nanoparticles	479				
	3.5.	Anticancer studies on plant mediated nanoparticles	479				
	3.6.	Antiviral effects of metallic nanoparticles	479				
	3.7.	Antidiabetic management of metallic nanoparticles	479				
	3.8.	Antioxidant mechanisms of plant derived nanoparticles	479				
4.	Secor	ndary metabolites effect in bio-reduction reaction	480				
5.	Com	Commercial applications of biosynthesized nanoparticles					
	5.1.	Waste water treatment	481				
	5.2.	Cosmetics.	481				
	5.3.	Nanoparticles in food industry.	481				
6.	Facto	ors influencing the synthesis of metallic nanoparticles	481				
7.	Conclusion and future prospective of plant derived nanoparticles						
	Ackn	Acknowledgements					
	Refer	rences	482				

1. Introduction

Nanoparticle has multifunctional properties and very interesting applications in various fields such as medicine, nutrition and energy (Chandran et al., 2006). The biogenic syntheses of monodispersed nanoparticles with specific sizes and shapes have been a challenge in biomaterial science. Also, it has created remarkable advantages in the pharmacological industry to cure various bacterial and viral diseases (Song and Kim, 2009). Biosynthesis methods have more compensation over other classical synthesis procedures due to the availability of more biological entities and eco-friendly procedures. The rich biodiversity and easy availability of plant entities have been highly explored for the nanomaterials synthesis (Monda et al., 2011). Recently, the biosynthesis of nanosized particles, wires, flowers, tubes was reported successfully. These biological synthesized nanomaterials have potential applications in different areas such as treatment, diagnosis, development surgical nanodevices and commercial product manufacturing (Bar et al., 2009). Nanomedicine makes a huge impact in healthcare sector in treating various chronic diseases. Hence, eco-friendly synthesis of nanoparticles is considered as building blocks of the forthcoming generations to control various diseases (Cruz et al., 2010).

Plant crude extract contains novel secondary metabolites such as phenolic acid, flavonoids, alkaloids and terpenoids in which these compounds are mainly responsible for the reduction of ionic into bulk metallic nanoparticles formation (Aromal and Philip, 2012). These primary and secondary metabolites are constantly involved in the redox reaction to synthesize eco-friendly nanosized particles. Many previous reports are demonstrating that biosynthesized nanoparticle effectively controlled oxidative stress, genotoxicity and apoptosis related changes (Kim et al., 2007). Additionally, nanoparticles have broad application in agriculture industry and plant sciences. For instance, the nanoparticle using bioprocessing technology converts the agricultural and food wastes into energy and useful by-products. Based on that, the review focused on biosynthesized metallic nanoparticles from plant derivatives and its application in medical and commercial sectors including waste water treatment, cosmetics and food industry.

1.1. Classical approaches of metals

Anciently, the gold metal is known as a symbol of power and wealth. The gold metal is used in different forms to improve the human health ever since. Even today, the biological aspects of metallic gold nanoparticles (GNPs) are very useful to human health and cosmetics applications (Alanazi et al., 2010). In the 18th century, Egyptians used gold metal solubilized water for mental and spiritual purification. The restorative property of gold is still honoured in rural villages, where peasants cook their rice with a gold pellet to replace the minerals in the body via food intake. Traditionally, silver metal is used to control bodily infection and prevent food spoilage. Silver is used as wound healer agents and ulcer treatment



Figure 1 Different types of nanoparticle synthesis from plant resources.

(Singh et al., 2013). In fact, nowadays the colloidal silver nanoparticles have been used as antimicrobial agent, wound dressing material, bone and tooth cement and water purifier as well (Narayanan and Sakthivel, 2011).

1.2. Different methods for metallic nanoparticle synthesis

Several methods are used for synthesis of nanoparticles (NPs) such as physical, chemical, enzymatic and biological. Physical methods are including plasma arcing, ball milling, thermal evaporate, spray pyrolysis, ultra thin films, pulsed laser desorption, lithographic techniques, sputter deposition, layer by layer growth, molecular beam epistaxis and diffusion flame synthesis of nanoparticles (Joerger et al., 2000). Similarly, the chemical methods are used to synthesized NPs by electrodeposition, sol-gel process, chemical solution deposition, chemical vapour deposition (Panigrahi et al., 2004; Oliveira et al., 2005), soft chemical method, Langmuir Blodgett method, catalytic route, hydrolysis (Pileni, 1997), co-precipitation method and wet chemical method (Gan et al., 2012). Physical and chemical methods have been using high radiation and highly concentrated reductants and stabilizing agents that are harmful to environmental and to human health. Hence, biological synthesis of nanoparticles is a single step bioreduction method and less energy is used to synthesize eco-friendly NPs (Sathishkumar et al., 2009). Apart from that, the biological methods are using eco-friendly resources such as plant extracts, bacteria, fungi, micro algae such as cyanobacteria, diatom, seaweed (macroalgae) and enzymes (Iravani, 2011). Fig. 1 shows different types of metallic nanoparticles synthesized from plant resources.

1.3. Bio-reduction mechanism

Silver: the biochemical reaction of AgNO₃ reacts with plant broth leads to the formation of AgNPs by following reaction (Tripathy et al., 2010). Fig. 2 explains the proposed mechanism of biological synthesis of nanoparticles.

$Ag^+NO_3^- + plant extract \rightarrow Ag^oNPs + byproducts$

Gold: the plant extract contains different biomolecules such as proteins, sugars, amino acids, enzymes and other traces of metals. These metabolites are strongly involved in the bioreduction process. The proposed reaction was Au^+ ions

reduction into metallic Au° nanoparticles in the presence of metabolites and redox enzymes (Thakkar et al., 2010). The reaction is given below.

 $HAu^+Cl_4\cdot 4H_20 + plant\ extracts \rightarrow Au^oNPs + by products$

Platinum: platinum is involved in the following reduction process such as

 $H_2Pt^+Cl_2 \cdot 6H_20 + Plant \ extracts \rightarrow Pt^oNPs + byproducts$

Copper: the copper nanoparticles are synthesized from plant extracts and the reduction mechanism was proposed by Ramanathan et al. (2013)

 $CuSO_4 \cdot 5H_2O + Plant metabolites \rightarrow Cu^oNPs + byproducts$

Zinc oxide: A typical procedure was employed in ZnO nanoparticles production, the zinc nitrate was dissolved in the aloe plant extract to produce the nanosized particles. The method is as follows (Sangeetha et al., 2011):

Zinc nitrate + Plant extract \rightarrow ZnO + byproducts

2. Different parts of plants used to produce metallic NPs

Recently, the plant mediated nanomaterial has drawn more attention due to its vast application in various fields due to their physic-chemical properties. The different metallic nanoparticles such as gold, silver, platinum, zinc, copper, titanium oxide, magnetite and nickel were synthesized from natural resources and have been studied exclusively. The different parts of plant such as stem, root, fruit, seed, callus, peel, leaves and flower are used to syntheses of metallic nanoparticles in various shapes and sizes by biological approaches. Fig. 3 shows different sizes and shapes of the nanoparticles derived from plants resources. Biosynthesis reaction can be altered by wide range of metal concentration and amount of plant extract in the reaction medium, it may transform the shapes and size of the nanoparticles (Chandran et al., 2006; Dubey et al., 2010).

2.1. Stem as source for nanoparticle synthesis

Shameli et al. (2012) Callicarpa maingayi stem methanolic extract used for synthesis of silver nanoparticles and formed [Ag (Callicarpa maingayi)] + complex. The plant extract contains aldehyde group and it's mainly involved in the reduction of silver ions into metallic Ag nanoparticles. The different functional group -C=0, C=N indicates amide I, polypeptides which are the responsible compounds in the capping of ionic substances into metallic nanoparticles. The molecular studies on biosynthesis of silver crystals are complex and not yet fully understood. But some previous studies are proposed model mechanisms of nanoparticles interaction with pathogenic organisms. The biosynthesized silver NPs binding with protein outer cell wall of bacteria, fungi or viral bodies that breaks the lipoproteins of microbial cell wall. Finally the cell division was stopped and cell leads to death. Phytosynthesis of silver nanoparticles use Cissus quadrangularis extracts at room temperature was reported by Vanaja et al. (2013). The stem part of plant extract shows the different functional groups, particularly the carboxyl, amine, and phenolic compounds that are involved in the reduction of silver ions.



Figure 2 Proposed mechanism of nanoparticle synthesis using plant extracts.

Thus, synthesized silver nanoparticles show more activity against *Klebsiella planticola* and *Bacillus subtilis* pathogenic bacteria. Therefore, the biosynthesized metal nanoparticles acted as good antibacterial agents.

2.2. Fruits mediated synthesis of metallic nanoparticles

Gopinath et al. (2012) used plant fruit bodies *Tribulus terrestris* extract with addition of different molar concentrations of silver nitrate solution in order to synthesize eco-friendly AgNPs with specific morphological features. The extract contains active phytochemical compounds that are liable for the single step reduction reaction. The spherical shapes of silver nanoparticles were produced by the *T. terrestris* extract and substantiated admirable antimicrobial activity against multidrug resistant human pathogens. There is similar report on using of polyphenol from grapes to synthesize palladium nanoparticles and act effectively against bacterial diseases (Amarnath et al., 2012). In addition, *Rumex hymenosepalus* extract acts as a reducing and stabilizing agent for silver nanoparticle synthesis. The use of optimum physic chemical parameters to synthesize nanomaterial is very effective in pharmacological solicitation to treat various endemic diseases.

2.3. Seeds as source

The fenugreek seed extract contains high flavonoids and other natural bioactive products such as lignin, saponin and vitamins. The reduction of chloroauric acid by using the powerful reducing agents fenugreek seed extract acts as a better surfactant. The COO⁻ group (carboxylic), C=N and C=C functional groups are present in the seed extract. The functional group of metabolites acts as a surfactant of gold nanoparticles and the flavonoids can stabilize the electrostatic stabilization of gold NPs (Mittal et al., 2013). The aqueous extract of *Macrotyloma uniflorum* enhanced the reduction rate of silver



Figure 3 Different size and shapes of the nanoparticle synthesis from plant extracts (derived from Chandran et al., 2006 and Dubey et al., 2010).

ions. This may be owing to the presence of caffeic acid in the extract. Therefore, the presence of caffeic acid reduction reaction was occurred within a minute.

2.4. Leaves mediated synthesis of NPs

Plant leaves extract used as a mediator to synthesis of nanoparticles was reported. Leaves of Centella asiatica, Murraya koenigii, Alternanthera sessilis and many plants leaves extract have been studied. Recently, P. nigrum leaves were stated to contain an important bioactive compound which is involved in the nanoparticle synthesis by eco-friendly method. The biological mode of synthesized silver nanoparticles of 100 ug/ml concentration was proficient drug concentration on HEp-2 and HeLa cell line to regulate the normal biochemical function in cancer cells. The AgNPs have effective drug in cancer medicine to cure various oncology and dreadful diseases. P. nigrum extracts have been longumine and piper longminine, it acts as a capping agent for the formation of silver nanoparticles and may enhance the cytotoxic effects of the tumour cells (Jacob et al., 2012). A green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using the leaves of Artemisia nilagirica plant extract has been described by Vijayakumar et al. (2013). It shows a significant tool for antimicrobial agents in present and in a near future. Similarly, silver nanoparticles synthesized from the plant resources possibly control different pathogenic condition in human.

2.5. Flowers as source for NPs production

Noruzi et al. (2011) studied an eco-friendly method synthesis of gold nanoparticles by using rose petals. The extract medium contains abundant sugars and proteins. These functional compounds are the main sources for reduction of tetrachloroaurate salt into bulk GNPs. Likewise, Catharanthus roseus and Clitoria ternatea diverse groups of flowers are used for the metallic nanoparticle synthesis with desired sizes and shapes. The plant synthesized nanoparticles have been effectively controlling harmful pathogenic bacteria and similarly the medicinal usable Nyctanthes arbortristis flowers of gold nanoparticles extract are synthesized via green chemistry method (Das et al., 2011). The aqueous extract of Mirabilis jalapa flowers acts as a reducing agent and produced gold nanoparticles with ecofriendly method (Vankar and Bajpai, 2010). Table 1 illustrates the plant metabolites which represent in the bioreduction reaction to synthesis of metallic nanoparticles and its pharmacological applications.

3. Pharmacological application of metallic nanoparticles

3.1. Anti-bactericidal activities of metallic nanoparticles

The AgNPs were effectively disrupting the polymer subunits of cell membrane in pathogenic organisms. The reciprocal action of nanoparticles subsequently breaks the cell membrane and disturbs the protein synthesis mechanism in the bacterial system (Sondi and Salopek-Sondi, 2004). The increasing concentrations of silver nanoparticles have faster membrane permeability than the lower concentrations and consequently rupture the cell wall of bacteria (Kasthuri et al., 2009). The maximum conductivity was observed in *Rhizophora apiculata* reduced silver nanoparticles shown a low number of bacterial

colony in the experimental plate compared with AgNO₃ treated cells, which may be due to the smaller size of the particles and larger surface area which leads to the increase of membrane permeability and cell destruction (Antony et al., 2011). The interactions of bacteria and the metallic silver and gold nanoparticles have been binding with active site of cell membrane to inhibit the cell cycle functions (Kim et al., 2007). The biosynthesized silver nanoparticles were achieved in a single step procedure by using Citrus sinensis peel extract as a reducing and a capping agent. C. sinensis peel extract reduced silver nanoparticles effectively and the activity against Escherichia coli, Pseudomonas aeruginosa (gram-negative) and Staphylococcus aureus (gram-positive) has been proved (Kaviya et al., 2011). Similarly, Krishnaraj et al. (2010) reported that Acalypha indica plant leaf synthesized silver nanoparticles effectively control water borne pathogenic bacteria with lower concentrations of $10 \,\mu g/ml$.

3.2. Anti-fungicidal activities of metallic nanoparticles

The fungicidal mechanism of biosynthesized metallic nanoparticles has more potential than commercial antibiotics such as fluconazole and amphotericin. The plant derived Ag nanoparticles have clearly showed the membrane damage in Candida sp. and damage in fungal intercellular components and finally cell function was destroyed (Logeswari et al., 2012). Most of the commercial antifungal agents have limited applications clinically and in addition, there are more adverse effect and less recovery from the microbial disease. Subsequently, the commercial drugs induce side effect such as renal failure, increased body temperature, nausea, liver damage, and diarrhoea after using the drugs. Nanoparticles were developed for novel and effective drug against microbes. The fungal cell wall is made up of high polymer of fatty acid and protein. The multifunctional AgNPs have a promising activity against spore producing fungus and effectively destroy the fungal growth. The fungal cell membrane structure significant changes were observed by treating it with metallic nanoparticles (Gardea-Torresdey et al., 2002).

3.3. Antiplasmodial activity of metallic nanoparticles

Currently, the most common diseases are spreading everywhere by vectors. Vector control is a serious requirement in epidemic disease situation. The advanced antiplasmodial species specific control method is less effective. This method has been more economical but less effective to control the target organisms in the health care sector (Gnanadesigan et al., 2011). Hence, effective and affordable antimalarial drugs are urgently required to control the plasmoidal activity. In last few decades, plants have been used as traditional sources of natural products and having enough sources for drug development for antimalarial disease. The plant derived chemical constituents such as quinine, artemisinin and aromatic compound have been successfully used against resistant strains of malaria parasites (Jayaseelan et al., 2011). Due to that high resistance of parasites, the alternative drug is needed for controlling the resistance strains. The plants developed metallic nanoparticles such as silver, platinum and palladium nanoparticles are effectively control the malarial population in the environment. Also, the biogenic synthesis of metallic silver nanoparticles

			~	~	~	~	~
Plants used	Nanoparticles	Parts of plant	Size (nm)	Shapes	Plant metabolites involved in bioreduction	Pharmacological applications	Cited
Acalypha indica	Ag, Au	Leaves	20-30	Spherical	Quercetin, plant pigment	Antibacterial	Krishnaraj et al. (2010)
Aloe vera	In_2O_3	Leaf	5-50	Spherical	Biomolecules	Optical properties	Maensiri et al. (2008)
Alternanthera sessilis	Ag	Whole	40	Spherical	Amine, carboxyl group	Antioxidant, antimicrobial	Niraimathi et al. (2012)
Andrographis paniculata	Ag	Leaves	67–88	Spherical	Alkaloids, flavonoids	Hepatocurative activity	Suriyakalaa et al. (2013)
A. mexicana	Ag	Leaves	20-50	Spherical	Protein,	Antimicrobial	Singh et al. (2010)
Artemisia nilagirica	Ag	Leaves	70–90	Spherical	Secondary metabolites	Antimicrobial	Song et al. (2009)
Boswellia serrata	Ag	Gum	7-10	Spherical	Protein, enzyme	Antibacterial	Kora et al. (2012)
Caria papaya	Ag	Fruit	15	Spherical	Hydroxyl flavones, catechins	Antimicrobial	Jain et al. (2009)
Cassia fistula	Au	Stem	55–98	Spherical	Hydroxyl group	Antihypoglycemic	Daisy et al. (2012)
Cinnamon zeylanicum	Ag	Leaves	45	Spherical	Water soluble organics	Antibacterial	Sathishkumar et al. (2009)
Citrullus colocynthis	Ag	Calli	5-70	Triangle	Polyphenols	Antioxidant, anticancer	Satyavani et al. (2011)
Citrus sinensis	Ag	Peel	35	Spherical	Water soluble compounds	Antibacterial	Kaviya et al. (2011)
Dillenia indica	Ag	Fruit	11–24	Spherical	Biomolecules	Antibacterial	Singh et al. (2013)
Dioscorea bulbifera	Ag	Tuber	8-20	Rod, triangular	Diosgenin, ascorbic acid	Antimicrobial	Ghosh et al. (2012)
Euphorbia prostrata	Ag	Leaves	52	Rod, spherical	Protein, polyphenols	Antiplasmodial	Zahir and Rahuman (2012)
Gelsemium sempervirens	Ag	whole	112	Spherical	Protein, amide, amine group	Cytotoxicity	Das et al. (2011)
Lippia citriodora	Ag	Leaves	15-30	Spherical,	Isoverbascoside compound	Antimicrobial	Cruz et al. (2010)
Mentha piperita	Au, Ag	Leaves	90-150	Spherical	Menthol	Antibacterial	MubarakAli et al. (2011)
Mirabilis jalapa	Au	Flowers	~ 100	Spherical	Polysaccharides	Antimicrobial	Vankar et al. (2010)
H. canadensis	Ag	Whole	113	Spherical	Phenolics, protein	Cytotoxicity	Das et al. (2011)
Iresine herbstii	Ag	Leaves	44–64	Cubic	Biomolecules phenolic compound	Biological activities	Dipankar et al. (2012)
Melia azedarach	Ag	Leaves	78	Irregular	Tannic acid, polyphenols	Cytotoxicity	Sukirtha et al. (2012)
Tinospora cordifolia	Ag	Leaves	34	Spherical	Phenolic compound	Antilarvicidal	Jayaseelan et al. (2011)
Trigonella-foenum graecum	Au	Seed	15-25	Spherical	Flavonoids	Catalytic	Aromal et al. (2012)
Withania somnifera	Ag	Leaves	5-40	Irregular, spherical	Methyl 7-oxooctadecanoate	Antimicrobial	Nagati et al. (2012)

 Table 1
 Summary of plant derived metallic nanoparticles and its biomedical applications.

from plant extract have been used to suppress the number of malarial productions.

3.4. Anti-inflammatory action of nanoparticles

Anti-inflammatory is an important wound healing mechanism. Anti-inflammation is a cascade process that produces immune responsive compound such as interleukins and cytokinins which can be produced by keratinocytes including T lymphocytes, B lymphocytes and macrophages (Jacob et al., 2012). Various inflammatory mediators such as enzymes, antibodies are secreted from the endocrine system. Other potential antiinflammatory agents such as cytokines. IL-1. IL-2 are secreted from the primary immune organs. These anti-inflammatory mediators induce the healing process (Satyavani et al., 2011). Also, the inflammatory mediators are involved in biochemical pathways and control the expansion of diseases. Biosynthesized gold nanoparticles achieved positive wound repair mechanisms and tissue regeneration in inflammatory function (Gurunathan et al., 2009). The studies proved that biosynthesized gold and platinum nanoparticles are alternative sources for treating inflammation in a natural way.

3.5. Anticancer studies on plant mediated nanoparticles

Cancer is an uncontrolled cell proliferation with hysterical changes of biochemical and enzymatic parameters, which is universal property of tumour cells. The overexpression of cellular growth will be arrested and regulated with systematic cell cycle mechanisms in cancerous cell by using bio-based nanoparticles as novel controlling agents (Akhtar et al., 2013). Also the plant mediated nanoparticles have great effect against various cancer cell lines such as Hep 2, HCT 116 and Hela cell lines. Recently, many studies reported that plant derived nanoparticles have potential to control tumour cell growth. The improved cytotoxic effect is due to the secondary metabolites and other non-metal composition in the synthesizing medium (Raghunandan et al., 2011; Das et al., 2013).

The plant derived silver nanoparticles regulate the cell cycle and enzymes in bloodstream (Alt et al., 2004). Moreover, the plant synthesized nanoparticles relatively control the free radicals formation from the cell. Free radicals commonly induce cell proliferation and damage the normal cell function. The moderate concentration of gold nanoparticles induces the apoptosis mechanism in malignant cells (Dipankar and Murugan, 2012). Similarly, Ag nanoparticles treated MCF-7 cancer cell line has retained the biomolecules concentration in the cells, and subsequently the cell metabolism was regulated (Das et al., 2011). The metallic nanoparticles have proved their novel applications in medical field to diagnose and treat various types of cancer and other retroviral diseases. The biobased nanoparticles are new and revolutionized to treat malignant deposit and without interfering the normal cells. Suman et al. (2013) reported that the green synthesis of silver nanoparticles exhibited a significant cytotoxic effect in HeLa cell lines compared to other chemical based synthetic drugs.

3.6. Antiviral effects of metallic nanoparticles

Plants mediated nanoparticles are the alternative drugs for treating and controlling the growth of viral pathogens. The

entry of viruses into a host is very reckless and it involved in faster translational process to multiply their colony numbers. Biosynthesis of AgNPs nanoparticles can act as potent broad-spectrum antiviral agents to restrict virus cell functions. Suriyakalaa et al. (2013) studied the bio-AgNPs that have persuasive anti-HIV action at an early stage of reverse transcription mechanism. The metallic NPs are strong antiviral agents and inhibit the viral entry into the host system. The biosynthesized metallic nanoparticles have multiple binding sites to bind with gp120 of viral membrane to control the function of virus. The bio-based nanoparticles are acting as effective virucidal agent against cell-free virus and cell-associated virus (Sun et al., 2005). In addition, the silver and gold nanoparticles are constantly inhibiting post-entry stages of the HIV-1 life cycle. Therefore, the metallic nanoparticles will act as promising antiviral drug against retro viruses.

3.7. Antidiabetic management of metallic nanoparticles

Diabetes Mellitus (DM) is a group of metabolic dysfunction in which person has uncontrolled sugar level in blood. Certain foods and balance diet or synthetic insulin drugs can be prevent the diabetes at certain levels, but the complete treatment of DM is a big challenge. However, the biosynthesized nanomaterials could be alternative drug to cure the diabetes mellitus. Daisy and Saipriya's (2012) results showed that gold nanoparticles have good therapeutic effects against diabetic models. Gold nanoparticles significantly reduce the level of liver enzymes such as alanine transaminase, alkaline phosphatase, serum creatinine, and uric acid in treated diabetes mice. The gold nanoparticles treated diabetic model showed a decrease of HbA (glycosylated haemoglobin) level which is maintaining the normal range. Swarnalatha et al. (2012) explored the Sphaeranthus amaranthoides biosynthesized silver nanoparticles inhibited α-amylase and acarbose sugar in diabetes induced animal model. It is mainly α-amylase inhibitory components are present in ethanolic extract of S. amaranthoides (Manikanth et al., 2010). Likewise, Pickup et al. (2008) studied that the nanoparticles are potent therapeutic agent to control diabetes with few side effects. The clinical studies in mice successfully control the sugar level of 140 mg/dl in silver nanoparticles treated group.

3.8. Antioxidant mechanisms of plant derived nanoparticles

Antioxidant agents including enzymatic and non-enzymatic substances regulate the free radical formation. Free radicals are causing cellular damage including brain damage, atherosclerosis and cancer. The free radicals are generated by reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as superoxide dismutase, hydrogen peroxides and hydrogen radicals. Biomolecules such as proteins, glycoprotein, lipids, fatty acids, phenolics, flavonoids and sugars strongly controlled the free radical formation (Marambio-Jones and Hoek, 2010). The scavenging power of enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants is useful for the management of various chronic diseases such as diabetes, cancer, AIDS, nephritis, metabolic disorders and neurodegenerative. The antioxidant effect of silver nanoparticles was stronger than other synthetic commercial standards e.g. ascorbic acid and so on. The nanoparticles showed higher antioxidant activity whereas the tea leaf extract possesses higher



Figure 4 (a-c) Examples of different secondary metabolites are synthesized metallic nanoparticles.

phenolic and flavonoids content in the extract (Reichelt et al., 2012).

4. Secondary metabolites effect in bio-reduction reaction

Several secondary metabolites and enzymes have relatively promoted the formation of metallic nanoparticles from the corresponding ionic compounds. The reduction reaction mainly involved plant biomolecules (secondary metabolites) such as sugars (polysaccharides), proteins, organic compounds, pigments, and plant resins. Plant natural products are involved in the reduction reaction to synthesize green nanoparticles. Plants are particularly participating in defence mechanisms to produce various chemical compounds such as polyphenols, saponins, antioxidant enzymes, terpenoids and alkaloids. These secondary metabolites are known as key sources for controlling the various acute diseases (Dubey et al., 2010). The proposed reduction reaction proved that



Figure 4 (continued)

the secondary metabolites are the main factors for the biosynthesis of metallic nanoparticles. The plant extracts contain numerous functional groups such as C=C (Alkenyl), C=N (amide), O=H (phenolic and alcohol), N-H (amine), C-H and COO- (carboxylic group). It is mainly symbolized as plant secondary metabolites and might be micro- and macrobiomolecules (Jha et al., 2009). These chemical substances are fully participating for the nanoparticle production. For instance R. hymenosepalus plant extract promotes the nanoparticle syntheses at room temperature with fast reaction kinetics. Therefore, the solvent extract of R. hymenosepalus is rich in polyphenols such as catechins and stilbenes molecules that act as reducing and stabilizing agents for silver nanoparticles production (Awwad et al., 2013). The plants derived secondary metabolites such as phenolics (Moulton et al., 2010). proteins (Sanghi and Verma, 2009), polysaccharides (Huang and Yang, 2004; Wei and Qian, 2008), flavonoids and tannins (Nam et al., 2008) were synthesized nanoparticles in ecofriendly method. Fig. 4a-c shows different plant metabolites are used for the synthesis of nanoparticles in green chemistry method.

5. Commercial applications of biosynthesized nanoparticles

5.1. Waste water treatment

Recently, nanoproducts have immense applications in day to day life. There are also various eco-friendly nanoproducts available in commercial market with high efficiency such as water purifier, bone and teeth cement, facial cream and homemade products (Kouvaris et al., 2012). For instance, silver, silica and platinum nanoparticles have various applications in personal care and cosmetics and they are used as ingredients in various products such as sunscreens, anti-ageing creams, toothpastes, mouthwash, hair care products and perfumes (Kumar and Yadav, 2009). The silica nanomaterials are used as ingredients in various commercial products. Also, the modified silica nanomaterials are used as excellent pesticide control and it is used in a variety of non-agricultural applications.

5.2. Cosmetics

The metal nanoparticles are used as a preservative agent in food and cosmetic industries. New dimension of metallic nanoparticles is used for different commercial applications mainly cosmetics, pharma coating materials and food preservatives (Songand and Kim, 2009; Kokura et al., 2010). The nanosized metal nanoparticles such as gold, silver and platinum are broadly being applied for various commercial products such as shampoo, soap, detergent, and shoes. The chemical ingredients are mostly synthetic, and it causes side effects to human being. As a result, the green metallic nanoparticles are alternative for preservative agents in healthcare and food industries.

5.3. Nanoparticles in food industry

Silver metal is a highly heat conducting material because of that, nano-Ag is used in various mechanical devices. It is mainly used in heat liable instrumentation such as PCR lid and UV-spectrophotometer. The parts of instrumentation are made by nanosilver which is used as coated materials. It is highly stable in high temperature and without interference to the samples (Weiss et al., 2006). In food industries, the food products gets high microbial contamination due to their various open scale processes such as in manufacturing, processing and shipping of raw materials. Therefore, there is a need to develop a cost effective biosensor to evaluate the quality of the products. The metallic nanoparticles have been developed as biosensors and it effectively detects pathogen and monitors the different stages of contaminant with low cost.

6. Factors influencing the synthesis of metallic nanoparticles

The different hydrogen ion concentration is responding to the different size and shapes of nanoparticles formation. Shankar et al. (2003) reported that *Aloe vera* extract produced Au–Ag core nanoparticles in various sizes and shapes by fluctuating the pH of the solvent medium. Similarly, biosynthesis of nanoparticles by *alfalfa* plant extract of the pH is retort for the size

variation in the nanoparticles production. On the other hand, temperature is also one of the stimulating factors for the nanoparticles biosynthesis with different size and shapes. However, the study on AuNPs formation using leaf extract of Cymbopogon flexuosus Raju et al. (2011) revealed that at high temperatures, it will lead to the formation of higher spherical NPs and nanotriangles, whereas lower reaction temperature mostly increases the nanotriangle formation. The difference in morphology is mainly percentage/amount of the salt solution in the reaction mixture. The concentration of salt could be altered with the reduction ability and sizes. Some environmental factors such as physical and chemical parameters controlled metallic crystal structure using the plant biomass as substrates (Marchiol, 2012). In addition, the reduction reaction time (minutes-hours) is one of the factors to reduce the ions into bulk metal with variant shapes. The optimum time period produces high absorbance peak value to identify the higher concentration NPs in the medium. It determined the employment of growth conditions and obvious formation of different size of NPs such as spherical, triangular, hexagonal and rectangular (Rai et al., 2006).

7. Conclusion and future prospective of plant derived nanoparticles

Biosynthesis of metal nanoparticles using plant derivatives is extremely studied in the last two decades. The plant metabolites induce the production of metallic nanoparticles in ecofriendly manner. As a prospect, the ecofriendly synthesis of nanoparticles using plant crude extracts and purified metabolites is novel substrates for the large scale production. The plant mediated nanoparticles have the potential to be used in various fields such as pharmaceuticals, therapeutics, sustainable and renewable energy and other commercial products. The plant derived metallic nanoparticles have projected impact on diagnosis and treatment of various diseases with controlled side effects. In future, the plants have wide perspective for the synthesis of metallic nanoparticles in healthcare and commercial products. Even though, there are two reasons to be explored in the biological production of nanoparticles, they are:

- i. To identify the phytochemical compounds (active metabolites) which is involved partially/fully in the reduction reaction?
- ii. Laboratory scale production of metallic nanoparticles to the extent of large scale production, and need to elucidate their functional mechanism against the pathogenic organisms.

Acknowledgements

The authors gratefully acknowledged Universiti Malaysia Pahang for the financial assistance through the internal research Grant Nos. RDU 120302 and PGRS 130336.

References

Akhtar, M.S., Panwar, J., Yun, Y.-S., 2013. Biogenic synthesis of metallic nanoparticles by plant extracts. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 1, 591–602.

- Alanazi, F.K., Radwan, A.A., Alsarra, I.A., 2010. Biopharmaceutical applications of nanogold. Saudi Pharm. J. 18, 179–193.
- Alt, V., Bechert, T., Steinrücke, P., 2004. An in vitro assessment of the antibacterial properties and cytotoxicity of nanoparticle silver bone cement. Biomaterials 25, 4383–4391.
- Amarnath, K., Kumar, J., Reddy, T., Mahesh, V., Ayyappan, S.R., Nellore, J., 2012. Synthesis and characterization of chitosan and grape polyphenols stabilized palladium nanoparticles and their antibacterial activity. Colloid Surf. B 92, 254–261.
- Antony, J.J., Sivalingam, P., Siva, D., Kamalakkannan, S., Anbarasu, K., Sukirtha, R., 2011. Comparative evaluation of antibacterial activity of silver nanoparticles synthesized using *Rhizophora apiculata* and glucose. Colloid Surf. B 98, 65–72.
- Aromal, S.A., Philip, D., 2012. Green synthesis of gold nanoparticles using *Trigonella foenum-graecum* and its size dependent catalytic activity. Spectrochim. Acta A 97, 1–5.
- Awwad, A.M., Salem, N.M., Abdeen, A.O., 2013. Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using carob leaf extract and its antibacterial activity. Int. J. Ind. Chem. 4, 29–35.
- Bar, H., Bhui, D.K., Sahoo, G.P., Sarkar, P., De, S.P., Misra, A., 2009. Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using latex of *Jatropha curcas*. Colloids Surf. A 339, 134–139.
- Chandran, S.P., Chaudhary, M., Pasricha, R., Ahmad, A., Sastry, M., 2006. Synthesis of gold nanotriangles and silver nanoparticles using *Aloe vera* plant extract. Biotechnol. Prog. 22, 577–583.
- Cruz, D., Falé, P.L., Mourato, A., Vaz, P.D., Serralheiro, M.L., Lino, A.R.L., 2010. Preparation and physicochemical characterization of Ag nanoparticles biosynthesized by *Lippia citriodora* (Lemon Verbena). Colloid Surf. B 81, 67–73.
- Daisy, P., Saipriya, K., 2012. Biochemical analysis of *Cassia fistula* aqueous extract and phytochemically synthesized gold nanoparticles as hypoglycemic treatment for diabetes mellitus. Int. J. Nanomed. 7, 1189–1202.
- Das, R.K., Gogoi, N., Bora, U., 2011. Green synthesis of gold nanoparticles using *Nyctanthes arbortristis* flower extract. Bioprocess Biosys. Eng. 34, 615–619.
- Das, S., Das, J., Samadder, A., Bhattacharyya, S.S., Das, D., Khuda-Bukhsh, A.R., 2013. Biosynthesized silver nanoparticles by ethanolic extracts of *Phytolacca decandra, Gelsemium sempervirens, Hydrastis canadensis* and *Thuja occidentalis* induce differential cytotoxicity through G2/M arrest in A375 cells. Colloid Surf. B 101, 325–336.
- Dipankar, C., Murugan, S., 2012. The green synthesis, characterization and evaluation of the biological activities of silver nanoparticles synthesized from *Iresine herbstii* leaf aqueous extracts. Colloid Surf. B 98, 112–119.
- Dubey, S.P., Lahtinen, M., Särkkä, H., Sillanpää, M., 2010. Bioprospective of *Sorbus aucuparia* leaf extract in development of silver and gold nanocolloids. Colloid Surf. B 80, 26–33.
- Gan, P.P., Ng, S.H., Huang, Y., Li, S.F.Y., 2012. Green synthesis of gold nanoparticles using palm oil mill effluent (POME): a low-cost and eco-friendly viable approach. Bioresour. Technol. 113, 132–135.
- Gardea-Torresdey, J.L., Parson, J.G., Gomez, E., Peralta-Videa, J., Troiani, H.E., Santiago, P., Yacaman, M.J., 2002. Formation and growth of Au nanoparticles inside live alfalfa plants. Nano Lett. 2, 397–401.
- Ghosh, S., Patil, S., Ahire, M., Kitture, R., Kale, S., Pardesi, K., Cameotra, S.S., Bellare, J., Dhavale, D.D., Jabgunde, A., Chopad, B.A., 2012. Synthesis of silver nanoparticles using *Dioscorea bulbifera* tuber extract and evaluation of its synergistic potential in combination with antimicrobial agents. Int. J. Nanomed. 7, 483–496.
- Gnanadesigan, M., Anand, M., Ravikumar, S., Maruthupandy, M., Vijayakumar, V., 2011. Biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles by using mangrove plant extract and their potential mosquito larvicidal property. Asian Pac. J. Trop. Med. 3, 799–803.
- Gopinath, V., MubarakAli, D., Priyadarshini, S., Priyadharsshini, N.M., Thajuddin, N., Velusamy, P., 2012. Biosynthesis of silver

nanoparticles from *Tribulus terrestris* and its antimicrobial activity: a novel biological approach. Colloid Surf. B 96, 69–74.

- Gurunathan, S., Kyung-Jin, L., Kalishwaralal, K., Sheikpranbabu, S., Vaidyanathan, R., Eom, S.H., 2009. Antiangiogenic properties of silver nanoparticles. Biomaterials 30, 6341–6350.
- Huang, H., Yang, X., 2004. Synthesis of polysaccharide-stabilized gold and silver nanoparticles: a green method. Carbohydr. Res. 339, 2627–2631.
- Iravani, S., 2011. Critical review green synthesis of metal nanoparticles using plants. Green Chem. 13, 2638–2650.
- Jacob, S.J.P., Finub, J.S., Narayanan, A., 2012. Synthesis of silver nanoparticles using *Piper longum* leaf extracts and its cytotoxic activity against Hep-2 cell line. Colloid Surf. B 91, 212–214.
- Jain, D., Daima, H.K., Kachhwaha, S., Kothari, S.L., 2009. Synthesis of plant-mediated silver nanoparticles using papaya fruit extract and evaluation of their anti microbial activities. Dig. J. Nanomat. Bios. 4, 557–563.
- Jayaseelan, C., Rahuman, A.A., Rajakumar, G., Kirthi, A.V., Santhoshkumar, T., Marimuthu, S., 2011. Synthesis of pediculocidal and larvicidal silver nanoparticles by leaf extract from heart leaf moon seed plant *Tinospora cordifolia* Miers. Parasitol. Res. 109, 185–194.
- Jha, A.K., Prasad, K., Kumar, V., Prasad, K., 2009. Biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using *Eclipta* leaf. Biotechnol. Prog. 25, 1475– 1477.
- Joerger, R., Klaus, T., Granqvist, C.G., 2000. Biologically produced silver–carbon composite materials for optically functional thin-film coatings. Adv. Mater. 12, 407–409.
- Kasthuri, J., Kathiravan, K., Rajendiran, N., 2009. Phyllanthin assisted biosynthesis of silver and gold nanoparticles: a novel biological approach. J. Nanopart. Res. 11, 1075–1085.
- Kaviya, S., Santhanalakshmi, J., Viswanathan, B., Muthumary, J., Srinivasan, K., 2011. Biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using *Citrus sinensis* peel extract and its antibacterial activity. Spectrochim. Acta A 79, 594–598.
- Kim, J.S., Kuk, E., Yu, K.N., Jong-Ho, K., Park, S.J., Lee, H.J., Kim, S.H., 2007. Antimicrobial effects of silver nanoparticles. Nanomedicine 3, 95–101.
- Kokura, S., Handa, O., Takagi, T., Ishikawa, T., Naito, Y., Yoshikawa, T., 2010. Silver nanoparticles as a safe preservative for use in cosmetics. Nanomedicine 6, 570–574.
- Kora, A.J., Sashidhar, R.B., Arunachalam, J., 2012. Aqueous extract of gum olibanum (*Boswellia serrata*): A reductant and stabilizer for the biosynthesis of antibacterial silver nanoparticles. Process Biochem. 47, 1516–1520.
- Kouvaris, P., Delimitis, A., Zaspalis, V., Papadopoulos, D., Tsipas, S.A., Michailidis, N., 2012. Green synthesis and characterization of silver nanoparticles produced using *Arbutus unedo* leaf extract. Mater. Lett. 76, 18–20.
- Krishnaraj, C., Jagan, E.G., Rajasekar, S., Selvakumar, P., Kalaichelvan, P.T., Mohan, N., 2010. Synthesis of silver nanoparticles using *Acalypha indica* leaf extracts and its antibacterial activity against water borne pathogens. Colloid Surf. B 76, 50–56.
- Kumar, V., Yadav, S.K., 2009. Plant-mediated synthesis of silver and gold nanoparticles and their applications. J. Chem. Technol. Biot. 84, 151–157.
- Logeswari, P., Silambarasan, S., Abraham, J., 2012. Synthesis of silver nanoparticles using plant extracts and analysis of their antimicrobial activity. J. Saudi Chem. Soc. 4, 23–45.
- Maensiri, S., Laokul, P., Klinkaewnarong, J., Phokha, S., Promarak, V., Seraphin, S., 2008. Indium oxide (In₂O₃) nanoparticles using *Aloe vera* plant extract: synthesis and optical properties. J. Optoelectron. Adv. Mater. 10, 161–165.
- Manikanth, S.B., Kalishwaralal, K., Sriram, M., Pandian, S.R.K., Hyung-seop, Y., Eom, S.H., Gurunathan, S., 2010. Anti-oxidant effect of gold nanoparticles restrains hyperglycemic conditions in diabetic mice. J. Nanobiotechnol. 8, 77–81.

- Marambio-Jones, C., Hoek, E.M.V., 2010. A review of the antibacterial effects of silver nanomaterials and potential implications for human health and the environment. J. Nanopart. Res. 12, 1531– 1551.
- Marchiol, L., 2012. Synthesis of metal nanoparticles in living plants. Ital. J. Agron. 7, 37–44.
- Mittal, A.K., Chisti, Y., Banerjee, U.C., 2013. Synthesis of metallic nanoparticles using plant extracts. Biotechnol. Adv. 31, 346–356.
- Monda, S., Roy, N., Laskar, R.A., Sk, I., Basu, S., Mandal, D., Begum, N.A., 2011. Biogenic synthesis of Ag, Au and bimetallic Au/Ag alloy nanoparticles using aqueous extract of mahogany (*Swietenia mahogani* JACQ.) leaves. Colloid Surf. B 82, 497–504.
- Moulton, M.C., Braydich-Stolle, L.K., Nadagouda, M.N., Kunzelman, S., Hussaina, S.M., Varma, R.S., 2010. Synthesis, characterization and biocompatibility of "green" synthesized silver nanoparticles using tea polyphenols. Nanoscale 2, 763–770.
- MubarakAli, D., Thajuddin, N., Jeganathan, K., Gunasekaran, M., 2011. Plant extract mediated synthesis of silver and gold nanoparticles and its antibacterial activity against clinically isolated pathogens. Colloid Surf. B 85, 360–365.
- Nagati, V.B., Alwala, J., Koyyati, R., Donda, M.R., Banala, R., Padigya, P.R.M., 2012. Green Synthesis of plant-mediated silver nanoparticles using *Withania somnifera* leaf extract and evaluation of their anti microbial activity. Asian Pac. J. Trop. Biomed. 2, 1–5.
- Nam, K.T., Lee, Y.J., Krauland, E.M., Kottmann, S.T., Belcher, A.M., 2008. Peptide-mediated reduction of silver ions on engineered biological scaffolds. ACS Nano 2, 1480–1486.
- Narayanan, K.B., Sakthivel, N., 2011. Green synthesis of biogenic metal nanoparticles by terrestrial and aquatic phototrophic and heterotrophic eukaryotes and biocompatible agents. Adv. Colloid Interface Sci. 169, 59–79.
- Niraimathi, K.L., Sudha, V., Lavanya, R., Brindha, P., 2012. Biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using *Alternanthera sessilis* (*Linn.*) extract and their antimicrobial, antioxidant activities. Colloid Surf. B 88, 34–39.
- Noruzi, M., Zare, D., Khoshnevisan, K., Davoodi, D., 2011. Rapid green synthesis of gold nanoparticles using *Rosa hybrida* petal extract at room temperature. Spectrachem. Acta Part A 79, 1461–1465.
- Oliveira, M.M., Ugarte, D., Zanchet, D., Zarbin, A.J.G., 2005. Influence of synthetic parameters on the size, structure, and stability of dodecanethiol-stabilized silver nanoparticles. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 292, 429–435.
- Panigrahi, S., Kundu, S., Ghosh, S., Nath, S., Pal, T., 2004. General method of synthesis for metal nanoparticles. J. Nanoparticle Res. 6, 411–414.
- Pickup, J.C., Zhi, Z.L., Khan, F., Saxl, T., Birch, D.J., 2008. Nanomedicine and its potential in diabetes research and practice. Diabetes Metab. Res. 24, 604–610.
- Pileni, M.P., 1997. Nanosized particles made in colloidal assemblies. Langmuir 13, 3266–3276.
- Raghunandan, D., Ravishankar, B., Sharanbasava, G., Mahesh, D.B., Harsoor, V., Yalagatti, M.S., Bhagawanraju, M., Venkataraman, A., 2011. Anti-cancer studies of noble metal nanoparticles synthesized using different plant extracts. Cancer Nanotechnol. 2, 57–65.
- Rai, A.A., Singh, A., Ahmed, A., Sastry, M., 2006. Role of halide ions and temperature on the morphology of biologically synthesized gold nanotriangles. Langmuir 22, 736–741.
- Raju, D., Mehta, U.J., Hazra, S., 2011. Synthesis of gold nanoparticles by various leaf fractions of *Semecarpus anacardium* L. Trees 25, 145–151.
- Ramanathan, R., Field, M.R., O'Mullane, A.P., Smooker, P.M., Bhargava, S.K., Bansal, V., 2013. Aqueous phase synthesis of copper nanoparticles: a link between heavy metal resistance and nanoparticle synthesis ability in bacterial systems. Nanoscale 21, 2300–2306.
- Reichelt, K.V., Hoffmann-Lücke, P., Hartmann, B., Weber, B., Ley, J.P., Krammer, G.E., Swanepoel, K.M., Engel, K.-H., 2012.

Phytochemical characterization of South African bush tea (*Athrixia phylicoides* DC). South Afr. J. Bot. 83, 1–8.

- Sangeetha, G., Rajeshwari, S., Venckatesh, R., 2011. Green synthesis of zinc oxide nanoparticles by aloe barbadensis miller leaf extract: structure and optical properties. Mater. Res. Bull. 46, 2560–2566.
- Sanghi, R., Verma, P., 2009. Biomimetic synthesis and characterisation of protein capped silver nanoparticles. Bioresource Technol. 100, 501–504.
- Sathishkumar, M., Sneha, K., Won, S.W., Cho, C.W., Kim, S., Yun, Y.S., 2009. *Cinnamon zeylanicum* bark extract and powder mediated green synthesis of nano-crystalline silver particles and its bactericidal activity. Colloid Surf. B 73, 332–338.
- Satyavani, K., Gurudeeban, S., Ramanathan, T., Balasubramanian, T., 2011. Biomedical potential of silver nanoparticles synthesized from calli cells of *Citrullus colocynthis* (L.) Schrad. J. Nanobiotechnol. 9, 43–51.
- Shameli, K., Ahmad, M., Al-Mulla, E.A.J., Ibrahim, N.A., Shabanzadeh, P., Rustaiyan, A., Abdollahi, Y., 2012. Green biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using *Callicarpa maingayi* stem bark extraction. Molecules 17, 8506–8517.
- Shankar, S.S., Ahmad, A., Sastry, M., 2003. Geranium leaf assisted biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles. Biotechnol. Prog. 19, 1627– 1631.
- Singh, C., Sharma, V., Naik, P.K., Khandelwal, V., Singh, H., 2010. A green biogenic approach for synthesis of gold and silver nanoparticles using *zingiber officinale*. Dig. J. Nanomat. Bios. 6, 535–542.
- Singh, S., Saikia, J.P., Buragohain, A.K., 2013. A novel 'green' synthesis of colloidal silver nanoparticles (SNP) using *Dillenia indica* fruit extract. Colloid Surf. B 102, 83–85.
- Sondi, I., Salopek-Sondi, B., 2004. Silver nanoparticles as antimicrobial agent: a case study on *E. coli* as a model for Gram-negative bacteria. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 275, 177–182.
- Song, J.Y., Kim, B.S., 2009. Biological synthesis of bimetallic Au/Ag nanoparticles using Persimmon (*Diospyros kaki*) leaf extract. Korean J. Chem. Eng. 25, 808–811.
- Songand, J.Y., Kim, B.S., 2009. Biological synthesis of metal nanoparticles. Biocatal. Agric. Biotechnol., 399–407 (CRC Press)
- Sukirtha, R., Priyanka, K.M., Antony, J.J., Kamalakkannan, S., Thangam, R., Gunasekaran, P., Krishnan, M., Achiraman, S., 2012. Cytotoxic effect of Green synthesized silver nanoparticles using *Melia azedarach* against in vitro HeLa cell lines and lymphoma mice model. Process Biochem. 47, 273–279.

- Suman, T.Y., Rajasree, S.R., Kanchana, A., Elizabeth, S.B., 2013. Biosynthesis, characterization and cytotoxic effect of plant mediated silver nanoparticles using *Morinda citrifolia* root extract. Colloids Surf. B 106, 74–78.
- Sun, R.W., Rong, C., Chung, N.P.Y., Ho, C.M., Lin, C.L.S., Che, C.M., 2005. Silver nanoparticles fabricated in Hepes buffer exhibit cytoprotective activities toward HIV-1 infected cells. Chem. Commun. 28, 5059–5061.
- Suriyakalaa, U., Antony, J.J., Suganya, S., Siva, D., Sukirtha, R., Kamalakkannan, S., Pichiah, P.B.T., Achiraman, S., 2013. Hepatocurative activity of biosynthesized silver nanoparticles fabricated using *Andrographis paniculata*. Colloid Surf. B 102, 189–194.
- Swarnalatha, C., Rachela, S., Ranjan, P., Baradwaj, P., 2012. Evaluation of *invitro* antidiabetic activity of *Sphaeranthus Amaranthoides* silver nanoparticles. Int. J. Nanomat. Biostr. 2, 25–29.
- Thakkar, K.N., Mhatre, S.S., Rasesh, Y.P., 2010. Biological synthesis of metallic nanoparticles. Nanomedicine 6, 257–262.
- Tripathy, A., Raichur, A.M., Chandrasekaran, N., Prathna, T.C., Mukherjee, A., 2010. Process variables in biomimetic synthesis of silver nanoparticles by aqueous extract of *Azadirachta indica* (Neem) leaves. J. Nanopart. Res. 12, 237–246.
- Vanaja, M., Rajeshkumar, S., Paulkumar, K., Gnanajobitha, G., Malarkodi, C., Annadurai, G., 2013. Phytosynthesis and characterization of silver nanoparticles using stem extract of *Coleus* aromaticus. Int. J. Mater. Biomat. Appl. 3, 1–4.
- Vankar, P.S., Bajpai, D., 2010. Preparation of gold nanoparticles from *Mirabilis jalapa* flowers. Indian J. Biochem. Biophys. 47, 157–160.
- Vijayakumar, M., Priya, K., Nancy, F.T., Noorlidah, A., Ahmed, A.B.A., 2013. Biosynthesis, characterisation and anti-bacterial effect of plant-mediated silver nanoparticles using *Artemisia nilagirica*. Ind. Crops Prod. 41, 235–240.
- Wei, D., Qian, W., 2008. Facile synthesis of Ag and Au nanoparticles utilizing chitosan as a mediator agent. Colloids Surf. B 62, 136–142.
- Weiss, J., Takhistov, P., Julianmcclements, D., 2006. Functional materials in food nanotechnology. J. Food Sci. 71, 107–116.
- Zahir, A.A., Rahuman, A.A., 2012. Evaluation of different extracts and synthesized silver nanoparticles from leaves of Euphorbia prostrate against the plant Haemaphysalis bispinosa and Hippobosca maculate. Vet. Parasitol. 187, 511–520.